
City of Clemson 
PLANNING & CODES ADMINISTRATION 

 
1250 Tiger Blvd., Suite 4 • Clemson, SC 29631-2662• (864) 653-2050 • Fax (864) 653-2057 • www.cityofclemson.org 

 

 

 BOARD OF ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW 
April 2, 2013 – 6:00 P.M. 
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBER 

 
Members Present:  Curtis Arnold, Davis Moorhead, Wayne Leftwich, Jane Brown, Rob Seel and Alley 
Linder 
 
Members Absent:  Russ Hebert 
 
Staff Present:  Bob Vecchio, Zoning and Codes Administrator and Beth Connor, Recording Secretary 
 
1.  Call to order:  Vice‐Chairman Jane Brown called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
   
2.  Adoption of Minutes:  Davis Moorhead moved the minutes for the January 8th meeting be 

accepted as presented.  Curtis Arnold seconded the motion.  Minutes adopted. 
 
3.  Action Items 
  a. Sign Review:   
 

1) 2013‐AR‐2:  First Baptist Church at 397 College Ave is requesting a new free standing sign for 
their facility.   

   
Bob Vecchio reported that the Church is in the zoning district C and are requesting a new sign 
which needs to be approved by the Board.  Mr. Vecchio informed the Board that the materials 
used for the new sign would match the building and the sign would be located 15’ back from the 
sidewalk. 
 
Mr. Vecchio explained that there has been an interest expressed in allowing electronic boards in 
the future and at the present time the staff is rewriting the zoning ordinance and one of the 
changes will be to consider this item.  Mr. Vecchio said that he did inform the applicant of this 
possible change.  There is a possibility that they would want to delete the changeable reader 
board for this option. 
 
Mr. Vecchio told the Board the changes will require standards which are now being considered 
and he will keep the board appraised of developments. 
 
A representative of Garfield Signs was there to answer any questions the Board may have and 
informed them that the sign would be internally lit. 
 
Rob Seel asked if the lettering “First Baptist Church” would be applied directly to the brick.  The 
response was ‘yes’. 
 
Wayne Leftwich asked if the message board would be on both sides and again, the response was 
‘yes’. 
 
Rob Seel moved that the request be approved as presented.  Davis Moorhead seconded the 
motion.  Motion approved. 



 

 

   
  b.  Variance Request: 

 
1)  2013 AR 03:  Paul Zugg, Signature Architects, representing Mr. Lee Hill is requesting relief 
from the architectural standards regarding building placement for the vacant parcel on Liberty 
Drive (adjacent to the SCDOT Hwy 123 abandoned exit ramp) to construct a new mixed use 
retail structure. 
 
Bob Vecchio reported that this parcel of land is in the Architectural Overlay District #5 and is one 
that he called “unsuitable for the district as written” but was included to ensure BAR review.  
Mr. Vecchio reminded the Board they reviewed a lot similar to this late last year.  
 
Mr. Vecchio reported that notices were sent, the property was posted for 15 day and a Public 
Notice was run in the newspaper.  Mr. Vecchio did not receive any comments for or against the 
request. 

 
Mr. Vecchio informed the Board that the applicant is requesting a variance allowing them to 
place the building as shown on the distributed site plan.  The proposed building will be a mixed 
use building consisting of the “Outdoor Adventures” business that will be relocating from Old 
Greenville Highway near campus, a small office area which will be for lease and two apartments 
on the second floor.  Mr. Vecchio said that this review will be to hear the request for the 
variance and how they mitigate the site to ensure good access for vehicles, pedestrians and 
cyclists. 
 
Applicant:  Paul Zugg, Signature Architects distributed photos of the site.  Mr. Zugg stood at the 
different pins and photographed the view from these vantage points.  Mr. Zugg described not 
only the locations of the photos and where he was standing, but also the topography of the area 
photographed. 
 
Mr. Zugg explained that the property is a triangle with an 8” high pressure gas line running 
through the property, not in the right‐of‐way.  Mr. Zugg explained that they could not place the 
building on the line but the parking lot will be allowed over the line. 
 
Mr. Zugg explained that the structure would be 5000 square feet, with retail and 2 apartments 
on top.  Mr. Zugg said that they would be maintaining the buffer. 
 
Mr. Zugg said that the lighting would be 14‐18 foot fiberglass poles with box lighting and the 
landscaping would be according to code. 
 
Mr. Zugg said that it would be close as possible to staying on grade. 
 
Rob Seel asked for clarification as to what the variance was for.  Mr. Vecchio said that it was for 
the placement of the building. 
Davis Moorhead move to approve the variance as presented.  Wayne Leftwich seconded the 
motion.  The Variance request does meet the necessary criteria. 
 
Mr. Leftwich commented on the discussion regarding pedestrian and bicycle access.  He asked if 
the Applicant had thought about the need for bike racks.  Mr. Zugg responded that they would 
be located in the green area. 



 

 

 
Variance granted. 

 
  c.  Building and Site Reviews: 
 

1)  2013 AR 04:  Paul Zugg, Signature Architects, representing Mr. Lee Hill is requesting a final 
review for site plans and building design of a new mixed use building on the vacant parcel on 
Liberty Drive (adjacent to the SCDOT Hwy 123 abandoned exit ramp). 
 
Bob Vecchio pointed out to the Board that this request follows the previous request with the 
formal review of the building elevations, site plan, landscaping and signage. 
 
Applicant:  Paul Zugg, Signature Architects showed the external elevations of the project.  He 
explained that their intent is to create a warm, residential feel to the structure.  Mr. Zugg 
provided samples of the stone that will be used, explaining that 80% of the structure would be 
ledge stone and 20% would be comprised of field stone.   
 
Mr. Zugg explained that the split face would be painted a gray color which would be low key 
with the stone.  The structure would have shake siding with bore and batten on the front; which 
he explained will be reclaimed oak siding, run vertically.  The gables will be vinyl molded siding 
in a wicker color. 
 
Mr. Zugg described the shingles as weathered wood, an architectural shingle.  There will be a 
metal roof on portions of the structure that will be slate gray.  The fascia would be Woodland 
Green, aged cedar and there will be stucco on the stair tower. 
 
Mr. Seel asked what type of material the fascia and exterior trim would be made of.  Mr. Zugg 
stated that it would be aluminum. 
 
Mr. Seel asked about the guard rails and Mr. Zugg said that the guard rails would be of a welded 
mesh. 
 
Alley Linder asked if the metal roof would be stand and seam or screw down roof.  Mr. Zugg said 
it would be screw down. 
 
Mr. Zugg reported that the monument sign would be channel letters internally lit.  He said that 
there would also be a sign on the stair tower facing the off ramp and there would be a sand 
blasted wooden sign on the main entrance. 
 
Curtis Arnold asked how bright the lights in the sign would be.  Mr. Zugg explained that they 
would be a warm back lit sign.  Mr. Zugg said that he wasn’t sure about the monument sign. 
 
Wayne Leftwich asked if the developer would incorporate the building materials into the 
signage.  
 
Mr. Vecchio said that the developer could have a sign to announce the project, but then it is a 
maximum 10’ high sign. 
 



 

 

Davis Moorhead asked what the surface of the parking lot would be.  Mr. Zugg said that the 
parking lot would be asphalt. 
 
Curtis Arnold asked if the building would be sprinklered.   Mr. Zugg said that it would be a 13R 
system and that they intend to add a fire hydrant as well. 
 
Mr. Leftwich commented on the fact that there would be two 3 bedroom units with just 5 
parking spaces.  Mr. Leftwich expressed concern about a sidewalk connection to the back 
stairway.  He feels the site is too tight, feels there isn’t enough room. 

 
Mr. Leftwich encourages the developer to have some type of path. Mr. Vecchio suggested that 
they could run a natural path with wood chips. 
 
Mr. Seel asked about the surface yard, trash bins, etc.  Mr. Zugg spoke with the City about using 
roll carts which will be tucked up underneath and not visible. 
 
Mr. Leftwich commented that other businesses on Liberty Drive use roll carts. 
 
Mr. Arnold asked if the lights would be dark sky compliant.  Mr. Zugg said that they would be 
and the lights would be bronze colored shoebox style. 
 
Mr. Seel noted that the lighting on the building is minimal.  Mr. Zugg said that there would be 
site lighting in the parking lot. 
 
Mr. Seel asked why the developer chose to use vinyl siding.  Mr. Zugg responded that it was a 
money issue. 
 
Mr. Seel complimented the Applicant for the good job done on the design considering the 
building has 4 fronts and thanked him for the floor plans which Mr. Seel found very helpful.  Mr. 
Seel suggested that the eave trim be 1/3 bigger. 
 
Mr. Seel also stated that he was not a fan of vinyl siding and that he preferred cement fiber. 
 
Mr. Leftwich suggested a painted sign rather than channel letter because he feels it would give a 
softer image. 
 
Mr. Leftwich expressed concern about the noise.  He asked if they have considered ways to 
mitigate the noise.  Mr. Leftwich suggested looking into the type of window on the south side 
and possibly some insulation. 
 
Mr. Linder suggested they might look into insulated vinyl siding.  Mr. Zugg said they would. 
 
Wayne Leftwich moved to approve the request as presented with the inclusion of bicycle racks 
approved by the Zoning Administrator.  Alley Linder seconded the motion.  Motion approved. 

   
4.  Election of Chair and Co‐Chair 
 
  The Vice‐Chair opened the floor for nominations. 
 



 

 

  Curtis Arnold nominated Russ Hebert and Jane Brown to be re‐elected for another term.  Davis 
Moorhead seconded the motion.  Motion approved 
 

5.  Staff Reports ‐ None 
 
6.  Adjourn – 6:55 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Beth Connor 
Recording Secretary 
 
Note:  Proceedings of this meeting have been recorded on audio tape. 


